

## **Version Control**

Version No.	Changes Made	By Whom	Date
V1	Draft Service Agreement	J Browne	20 February 2023
V1.2	DHW Executive Feedback	J Browne	20 March 2023
V1.3	Minor edits	J Browne	21 April 2023
V1.4	Amendments as per the Feedback Response Table	J Browne	20 June 2023
V1.5	Addition of Funding Tables	J Browne	22 June 2023
V1.6	Addition of Government Commitments	K Lang	1 August 2023

## **Disclaimer**

The content presented in this publication is distributed by the Government of South Australia as an information source only. The State of South Australia makes no statements, representations or warranties about the accuracy, completeness or reliability of any information contained in this publication. The State of South Australia disclaims all responsibility and all liability (including without limitation for liability in negligence) for all expenses, losses, damages and costs you might incur as a result of the information being inaccurate or incomplete in any way, and for any reason reliance was placed on such information.

# Contents

PART A: OBJECTIVES, GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGIC DELIVERABLES	5
Introduction	5
Objectives of the Service Agreement	5
Legislative and Regulatory Framework	6
The Health Care (Governance) Amendment Act 2021	6
Amendments to the Service Agreement and Dispute Resolution	6
Governance	6
Strategic Deliverables	7
Aboriginal Health Services and mainstream services for Aboriginal people	7
Self Sufficiency	8
Vulnerable Adults	8
Priority access for children and young people in care	8
Mental Health Services	8
Aged Care Reforms	8
Rural Support Service	9
PART B: GOVERNMENT COMMITMENTS	10
Purpose	10
Government Commitments	10
PART C: SERVICES	11
Purpose	11
Service Profile	11
Large (ABF funded)	11
Medium (Casemix funded)	11
Small (Grant funded)	11
Country Health Connect	11
Multi-Purpose Services (MPS)	11
Community Health and Supporting Services	11
Mental Health Services	12
Teaching and Training	12
Medical Profession Specific	12
Research	13
Commencement of a New Service	13
Cessation of Service Delivery	13
Agreements with Other Local Health Networks and Service Providers	13

DHW/LHN Commitments	14
PART D: OBLIGATIONS	15
PART E: DELIVERY AND PERFORMANCE	17
Purpose	17
Performance Framework	17
Integrated Safety and Quality Performance Account	19
Workplace Wellbeing Report	19
PART F: FUNDING AND COMMISSIONED ACTIVITY	20
Purpose	20
Activity and Funding Allocation	20
Specific Commissioning Commitments	23
Signature	24

# PART A: OBJECTIVES, GOVERNANCE AND STRATEGIC DELIVERABLES

#### Introduction

The Agreement supports the delivery of safe, effective and accountable high quality health care to the South Australian community by formally setting out the performance expectations and funding arrangements between the Department for Health and Wellbeing (DHW) and the Local Health Network (LHN) during the term of the Agreement.

The content and process for preparing the Agreement is consistent with the requirements of the *Health Care Act 2008* and the National Health Reform Agreement (NHRA).

## Fundamental to the success of the Agreement is:

- > a strong collaboration between the LHN, including its Chief Executive Officer and its Governing Board (where applicable) and the DHW
- > the Parties' commitment to achieving high standards of governance, transparency, integrity and accountability
- > the Parties' commitment to delivering high quality health care to the South Australian community
- > the Parties' commitment to upholding the South Australian Public Sector Values and Behaviour Framework.

In entering this Agreement, and without limiting any other obligations, both DHW and the LHN commit to the compliance of the following:

- > the terms of this Agreement
- > the legislative requirements as set out within the Health Care Act 2008
- > all regulations made under Charter for Local Health Network Governing Boards Volume 1, and
- > all applicable Cabinet decisions.

## **Objectives of the Service Agreement**

## The Agreement is designed to:

- > describe the strategic priorities and Government commitments for the DHW and LHN and the respective responsibilities of both Parties
- describe the key services and obligations that the LHN is required to deliver including particulars of the volume, scope and standard of services
- > describe the performance indicators, associated reporting arrangements and monitoring methods that apply to both parties
- describe the sources of funding that the Agreement is based on and the manner in which these funds will be provided to the LHN, including the commissioned activity
- > detail any other matter the DHW Chief Executive considers relevant to the provision of the services by the LHN.

## **Legislative and Regulatory Framework**

The Agreement is regulated by the *Health Care Act 2008* and the NHRA which provides the Commonwealth funding contribution for the delivery of public hospital services and details a range of reforms.

The NHRA requires the state of South Australia to establish Service Agreements with each Health Service for the commissioning of health services and to implement a performance and accountability framework, including processes for remediation of poor performance.

In delivering health services, the LHN is required to meet the applicable conditions of any National Partnership agreements between the State Government and the Commonwealth Government (including any commitments under related implementation plans).

#### The Health Care (Governance) Amendment Act 2021

The Health Care (Governance) Amendment Act 2021 passed Parliament on 8 June 2021, with the amendments to the Health Care Act 2008 (HCA) coming into operation on 23 August 2021. The amendments aim to deliver improved governance, ensuring there are clear statutory roles, responsibilities and accountabilities across the South Australian public health system.

Part 4A of the HCA legislates the minimum requirements for the Service Agreements, bringing South Australia in line with other jurisdictions. This Part outlines high-level processes for negotiating amendments and resolving disputes and provides for further operational detail about these processes to be mandated in policy established by the Chief Executive, or as prescribed by the regulations.

It also contains a last resort dispute resolution provision to the effect that if DHW and a LHN or SAAS cannot agree on a term of, or variation to, the Service Agreement, the Minister may make a decision about the term or variation and must advise both parties in writing. Any such Ministerial decision must be tabled in each House of Parliament within seven sitting days after the Service Agreement to which the decision relates is entered into or varied.

A Service Agreement between DHW and a LHN or SAAS is binding and must, within 14 days after it is entered into or varied, be made publicly available by the Chief Executive.

#### Amendments to the Service Agreement and Dispute Resolution

An amendment of the Agreement will occur where there is a change to the DHW Chief Executive's commissioning intentions, i.e. a change to funding, to deliverables or to other requirements contained within the Agreement.

Whilst a Party may submit an amendment proposal at any time, including the commencement, transfer or cessation of a service, formal negotiation and finalisation must be communicated in writing between all Parties and follow the process as laid out in the Service Agreement Amendment Fact Sheet

Resolution of disputes will be through a tiered resolution process, commencing at the local level and escalating to the DHW Chief Executive and, if required, through to the Minister for Health and Wellbeing. Further information is specified in the Service Agreement Dispute Resolution Fact Sheet.

## Governance

The Charter of Responsibility sets out the legislative roles and responsibilities of the DHW, LHNs and South Australian Ambulance Service (SAAS) and is consistent with the *Health Care Act 2008* and articulates the shared commitment and accountabilities of each Party to support the operation of the South Australian health system.

The <u>SA Health Corporate Governance Framework Summary</u> provides the high level architecture of critical strategic documents required for DHW and LHN Governing Boards to deliver services under this Agreement.

Without limiting any other obligations, the LHN must also comply and implement an appropriate compliance management system to ensure compliance with:

- > all Cabinet decisions and directives applicable to the LHN
- > all Ministerial directives applicable to the LHN
- > all agreements entered into between the South Australian and Commonwealth Governments applicable to the LHN
- > all legislation and regulations applicable to the LHN
- > all State Government and/or SA Health policies, directives, standards, instructions, circulars and determinations applicable to the LHN (refer to Part D: Obligations for examples).

DHW will ensure that any decision or agreement impacting on the LHN will be discussed and formally communicated to the LHN.

In order to demonstrate compliance, and in accordance with the System-wide Integrated Compliance Policy Directive, the LHN is also required to:

- > provide an Annual Compliance Certification from the Chief Executive Officer to its Governing Board and the DHW Chief Executive as the System Leader; and
- escalate any serious or systemic breaches to the Governing Board and the DHW Chief Executive as the System Leader.

## **Strategic Deliverables**

The LHN has a responsibility to ensure that the delivery of health care services is consistent with SA Health's strategic directions and priorities and that these and local priorities are reflected in strategic and operational plans.

The overarching strategy to address the health needs of all South Australians is underpinned by the SA Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025. This strategy provides the strategic intent for the health system, guiding how we align and balance our immediate priorities with a future vision of health and wellbeing. The LHN will be responsible for developing a LHN specific Clinical Services Plan that will determine services required to meet the need of their population, as well as the need for the state where required.

#### Aboriginal Health Services and mainstream services for Aboriginal people

SA Health is committed to ensuring Aboriginal people in South Australia live long and healthy lives, grounded in culture, with access to equitable and culturally responsive services. South Australia's Implementation Plan sets out the state's plan for achieving and addressing the priority reforms and socio-economic targets embedded in the Closing the Gap Agreement to ensure the lives of Aboriginal people in South Australia can improve in all cultural, social and economic aspects.

The LHN will operate programs that promote the provision of health care for Aboriginal people. The LHN is responsible for working collaboratively with the DHW's Aboriginal Health, other relevant health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Refer to the respective LHN Integrated Compliance Management Framework (ICMF) for supporting processes and tools.

services, support organisations and Aboriginal community-controlled health services to support services meeting the needs of the local Aboriginal population.

#### **Self Sufficiency**

DHW commits to continuing to work with LHNs to build self-sufficiency and refine flows where appropriate.

The LHN will deploy strategies at a hospital-level, to ensure patients can access high quality services in a timely manner, as close to home as possible and in line with the Clinical Service Capability Framework. The goal as a system is for 70% of low complexity activity (where possible) to be received at a patient's local hospital.

#### **Vulnerable Adults**

The LHN is also expected to work collaboratively with the Office for Ageing Well, Adult Safeguarding Unit and the National Disability Insurance Scheme Quality and Safeguards Commission to support the safeguarding of vulnerable adults.

The Office of the Chief Psychiatrist will work collaboratively with the LHNs regarding their compliance with the Mental Health Act 2009 (currently under review) and their engagement with the Chief Psychiatrist inspection program, including responding to any recommendations.

## Priority access for children and young people in care

SA Health is a partner agency in the Department for Child Protection's Investing in their Future program, under which children and young people in care, and those who have left care, may be eligible for priority access to services.

LHNs should therefore ensure that children and young people in care, or who have been in care, are given priority access to services to meet their physical, developmental, psychosocial and mental health needs.

#### **Mental Health Services**

The SA Mental Health Services Plan – 2020-2025 continues to provide direction for mental health service development with key projects Toward Zero Suicides in Care, a new Youth Mental Health Model of Care, the re-tendering of state funded non-government services, a Framework for Lived Experience Workforce and the continued development of Older Persons Mental Health Services.

Funding from the 2021-2022 budget was committed to support activities in the plan; key items which are underway include workforce development, supported community accommodation, and a crisis stabilisation unit in the northern suburbs.

A Commonwealth/State Bilateral Agreement was signed in early 2022 which commits the state to working in partnership with Commonwealth funded providers on the development of new Head to Health centres, an Aboriginal Wellbeing Centre, development of triage and access services, and partnering to improve approaches to infant, child and youth mental health.

#### **Aged Care Reforms**

All LHNs will work with the DHW to support national work on the design and implementation of reforms across aged care emerging from the Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety. This includes reforms to aged care service delivery, reforms to aged care programs delivered by LHNs and identification of impacts aged care sector reforms will have on the health system.

DHW will coordinate Commonwealth state engagement across aged care reforms and develop an overarching system view of SA Heath delivered aged care services. This includes developing system level service and investment advice for government.

## **Rural Support Service**

The Rural Support Service (RSS) operates as a partner to each regional LHN, providing them with flexible, responsive and innovative services that support them to grow and deliver the best health outcomes for their communities. The RSS is overseen by the RSS Governance Committee, a committee of the Barossa Hills Fleurieu LHN Governing Board, which provides strategic direction and governance of the RSS and ensures the RSS is meeting the needs of regional LHNs. The RSS support the provision of high-quality services to regional communities, which encompasses:

- > health, wellbeing, aged and disability services
- > finance, workforce and governance services
- > statewide services for, and with, all ten LHNs.

#### The RSS:

- > pursues digital and technological advancements and innovation that will help drive improvements in the delivery of health care and meet the needs of regional communities
- > plans, delivers and supports the provision of high-quality health and wellbeing services for regional communities
- supports the workforce to improve current health care delivery approaches and embrace new ways of working
- > brings together regional LHNs, consumers and other key stakeholders to work as partners, share information and benefit from the strengths of working together
- > delivers high-quality, client-centred business services to support the optimal functioning of regional LHNs.

#### **Rural Health Workforce**

The RSS is responsible for helping the regional LHNs to grow and strengthen the rural health workforce by:

- > identifying regional workforce trends and challenges and co-designing strategic regional workforce plans
- > supporting implementation of priority rural workforce projects for all health professions and relevant training opportunities and pathways
- > delivering the '10 More Country Specialist Doctors' Election Commitment.

Each regional LHN is responsible for implementing workforce plans and projects within their LHN, providing relevant training opportunities and pathways, and recruiting to the allocated medical specialist positions.

## PART B: GOVERNMENT COMMITMENTS

## **Purpose**

Part B describes the Government commitments and strategic partnerships for DHW and the LHN, and the mutual responsibilities of both Parties for the period of the Agreement.

#### **Government Commitments**

The Government's key priority is to fix the ramping crisis. LCLHN is expected to focus its efforts on providing quality services to its community and maintaining a high-calibre workforce, thus continuing or improving self-sufficiency and in turn reducing pressure on metropolitan services.

The Government expects the LCLHN Chief Executive Officer and their senior executives to uphold open lines of communication with senior clinicians and staff, and to maintain a visible presence in clinical areas across all sites to ensure they are accessible to staff.

LCLHN will contribute to the delivery of system-wide election commitments, including implementing the 10-Point Plan to End Violence and Aggression in South Australian Hospitals, maintaining a blanket ban on voluntary separation packages for frontline clinicians, and fully implementing criterialed discharge.

In addition, LCLHN is expected to adhere to the timeline and scope of several LHN-specific election commitments, including an upgraded Mount Gambier Hospital emergency department, six new mental health beds at Mount Gambier Hospital, two new dedicated alcohol and drug detox beds at Mount Gambier Hospital, upgrading Naracoorte Hospital and creating Keith and District Healthcare, securing the future of the hospital.

## **PART C: SERVICES**

## **Purpose**

Without limiting any other obligation of the LHN, Part C sets out the key services that the LHN is required to deliver under the terms of the Agreement, the process for commencing or ceasing a service, and LHN/DHW commitments.

#### Service Profile

Limestone Coast LHN operates the following hospitals and health service sites:

## Large (ABF funded)

Mount Gambier and Districts Health Service provides acute services across a continuum of care including in-hospital care by specialist surgical, obstetric, paediatric, anaesthetic, renal, mental health (as listed below) and chemotherapy medical specialists.

## Medium (Casemix funded)

- > Millicent and Districts Hospital and Health Service which provides emergency, medical, surgical, paediatric, outpatient and aged care services.
- Naracoorte Health Service provides care in the following areas: general medical and surgical (including same day and overnight stay), acute, emergency, psychiatry, palliative, residential aged and cancer services.

## Small (Grant funded)

> Bordertown Memorial Hospital which provides emergency, medical, day surgery, paediatric and aged care services.

#### **Country Health Connect**

> Country Health Connect offers a wide range of in-home and community-based services to older people, people living with disability, children and carers across regional South Australia.

## **Multi-Purpose Services (MPS)**

The LHN is responsible for a number of Commonwealth funded residential aged care facilities and a number of Multi-Purpose Service (MPS) facilities, including:

- > Kingston Soldiers' Memorial Hospital which provides emergency, medical, paediatric and aged care services.
- > Penola War Memorial Hospital which provides emergency, medical, paediatric and aged care services.

## **Community Health and Supporting Services**

The LHN has responsibility for the provision and/or coordination of the following services and will liaise with other LHNs and the Chief Executive to support the provision of these services.

- > Community and Allied Health Services
- > Integrated Cardiovascular Clinical Network (iCCnet)
- > Patient Assistance Transport Scheme (PATS)
- > South Australian Virtual Emergency Service (SAVES)
- > Virtual Clinical Care Home Tele-monitoring (VCC)

- > Pharmacy, Medical Imaging and Pathology
- > Aged Care Assessment Team (ACAT)
- > Rehabilitation
- > Disability services that meet community needs and comply with relevant safety and quality governance under the NDIS Safety and Quality Commission.

#### **Mental Health Services**

The LHN is responsible for providing integrated mental health services at the sites governed by the Agreement. The following services will continue to be provided in accordance with national standards and the SA Mental Health Services Plan – 2020-2025:

- > Integrated Mental Health Inpatient Units (located in Mount Gambier)
- > Mental Health Intensive Community Program (located in Mount Gambier)
- > Community Mental Health Services
- > Youth Mental Health Services (for people aged 16-24), via brokerage with the RSS
- > Older Persons' Mental Health Services (for people aged 65+), via brokerage with the RSS
- Distance consultation service including tele-psychiatry, emergency triage and liaison.

In addition, the Rural and Remote Inpatient Unit on the Glenside Health Service campus provides the majority of inpatient beds for country people.

Access to short-stay psychiatric intensive care and state-wide inpatient rehabilitation services are accessed through the localised bed management plan and negotiation with metropolitan LHNs.

## **Teaching and Training**

The NHRA, of which this Service Agreement is regulated by, stipulates that the Service Agreement is required to include the teaching, training and research functions to be undertaken at the LHN level.

The LHN is required to have a clearly articulated and published education and training strategy that positions education and training as a foundation for quality and safety in health care. The education and training strategy will be reported against annually and includes, but is not limited to, learning and development, student clinical placements and medical profession specific.

#### **Medical Profession Specific**

The LHN will support ongoing medical education and training in line with the Medical Education and Training principles will continue to provide training placements consistent with, and proportionate to, the capacity of the LHN. This includes, but is not limited to, planning and resourcing for clinical placements in collaboration with other LHNs, and the provision of placements for medical students, interns, rural generalist trainees and vocational medical trainees. The LHN must maintain accreditation standards for medical intern and other medical training positions.

Medical training networks may be developed and will assist with linking rural and regional LHNs with metropolitan LHNs and ensure a complete and varied experience in different clinical contexts and hospital settings.

The LHN will also have systems in place to recognise high performance in education and training as a means of promoting a culture of excellence and innovation.

## Research

The LHN's support for health and medical research will be demonstrated through a published Network Research Strategy which fully integrates research into teaching and clinical practice and supports opportunities for translational research. An annual Network Research Strategy Report (due by 1 September 2024) will be required from the LHN.

During 2023-24, the LHNs and Statewide Services will also be required to provide summary research administration and performance data to DHW to fulfil the requirements of the National Aggregate Statistics (NAS) data collection.

More information regarding research, research governance, reporting requirements and the Network Research Strategy Annual Report template can be found in the Human Research Ethics Committee and Site Specific Approvals Technical Bulletin.

#### Commencement of a New Service

In the event that either Party wishes to commence providing a new service, the requesting Party will notify the other Party in writing prior to any commencement or change in service (services in addition to those already delivered, and/or where new funding is required). The correspondence must clearly articulate details of the proposed service, any activity and/or financial implications and intended benefits/outcomes.

The non-requesting Party will provide a formal written response to the requesting Party regarding any proposed new service, including any amendments of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) (new or revised targets), and will negotiate with the other Party regarding funding associated with any new service.

## **Cessation of Service Delivery**

The DHW and LHN may terminate or temporarily suspend a service by mutual agreement. Any proposed service termination or suspension must be made in writing to the other Party, detailing the patient needs, workforce implications, relevant government policy and LHN sustainability considerations. The Parties will agree to a notice period. Any changes to service delivery must maintain provision of care and minimise disruption to consumers.

## Agreements with Other Local Health Networks and Service Providers

The DHW is responsible for supporting and managing whole of health contracts, in consultation with LHNs, as required. Where a service is required for which there is a SA Government or SA Health panel contract in place, the LHN is required to engage approved providers.

Where a service is required outside of an approved panel contract, the LHN may agree with another service provider to deliver services on behalf of the LHN according to their business needs.

The terms of an agreement made with any health service provider do not limit the LHN's obligations under the Agreement, including the performance standards provided for in the Agreement.

Where a service is provided by either the DHW or another LHN, the DHW, in principle, agree to ensure Service Agreements are established. It is expected that the Service Agreements will articulate scope, deliverables and KPIs that will assist the LHN in delivering service requirements. In the event that the LHN is experiencing difficulties in establishing required Service Agreements, DHW will provide assistance as appropriate.

## **DHW/LHN Commitments**

In order to enhance the services delivered by the LHN, and to improve commissioning outcomes, in 2023-24 DHW and the LHN will continue to work together to:

- > ensure key services are commissioned and funded in line with Government commitments and clinical service plans
- > enhance the governance structure
- > establish an Activity Based Management portal
- > develop a Three-year Commissioning Plan
- > review the activity, funding, costs and data capture of Grant Funded Units
- continue block funding reviews, incorporating:
  - Site Specific allocations
  - Intermediate Care allocations
  - adoption of national Mental Health classification Community
  - research grant funding allocations
  - existing and future opportunities for enhanced primary care delivery through the use of exemptions to subsection 19(2) of the Health Insurance Act 1973.\*

<sup>\*</sup>Adjustments to Health Performance Agreements (HPAs) may be made in year based on the outcome of the above review

## **PART D: OBLIGATIONS**

## **Purpose**

This Service Agreement requires the LHN/SAAS and DHW to comply with all relevant legislation, regulations, State Government, and/or SA Health policies, directives, standards, instructions, circulars and determinations, including, but not limited to the following obligations:

Australian Health Service Safety and Quality Accreditation (AHSSQA) Scheme

Bilateral Schedule on Mental Health and Suicide Prevention: South Australia

Better Placed: Excellence in health education

Civil Liability Act 1935

Charter of Responsibility

Child Safe Environments (Child Protection) Policy

Corporate Records Management Policy Directive

Department for Child Protections' Investing in their Future program

Commonwealth Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission (where applicable)

Disaster Resilience Policy Directive

**Emergency Management Act 2004** 

Fifth National Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Plan

Freedom of Information Act 1991

Freedom of Information Policy

Health Care (Governance) Amendment Bill 2020

Health Care Act 2008

Health Record Management Policy Directive

Integrated Compliance Management Framework

National Agreement on Closing the Gap

National Clinical Governance Framework

National Health Reform Agreement

National Partnership Agreements between the State and Commonwealth Government

National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards

National Safety and Quality Primary and Community Healthcare Standards

**NDIS Code of Conduct** 

NDIS Practice Standards and Quality Indicators

Public Health Act 2011

PC012 Information Privacy Principles (IPPS) Instructions

**Privacy Policy Directive** 

Return to Work Act 2014

System-wide Integrated Compliance Policy Directive

SA Health Gender Equality and Diversity Steering Committee: Strategic Directions 2020-2023

SA Health Policy Framework

SA Health Aboriginal Cultural Learning Framework

SA Health Aboriginal Health Care Framework

SA Health Aboriginal Workforce Framework 2023 -2031

SA Health Accreditation Policy Directive

SA Health Clinical Placement Requirements for Health Care Students

SA Health Clinical Services Capability Framework

SA Health Corporate Governance Framework Summary

Enterprise Data And Information (EDI) Data Requirements Bulletin

SA Health Performance Framework

SA Health Research Ethics Policy Directive

SA Health Research Governance Policy Directive

SA Medical Education and Training Principles

SA Mental Health Services Plan – 2020-2025

Service Agreement Amendment Fact Sheet

Service Agreement Dispute Resolution Fact Sheet

South Australian Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025

Standards for General Practice (where applicable)

State Emergency Management Plan

State Public Health Plan 2019-2024

State Records Act 1997

The Mental Health Act 2009

All other policies and directives applicable to DHW

## PART E: DELIVERY AND PERFORMANCE

## **Purpose**

Part E outlines the performance indicators, associated reporting requirements and monitoring methods that apply to the LHN.

#### **Performance Framework**

The SA Health Performance Framework 2023-24 sets out how the DHW, as the leader and steward of the public health system, monitors and assesses the performance of public health services and resources within South Australia. The Performance Framework uses performance indicators to monitor the extent to which the LHN is delivering the high level objectives set out in the Agreement. The LHN should refer to the SA Health Performance Framework for further information about the performance assessment process.

The LHN will endeavour to meet targets for each KPI identified in the table below. All sites within the LHN must meet performance targets as described under the four domain areas; timely access to care, productivity and efficiency, safe and effective care and people and culture.

While LHN KPI reports will be issued monthly as an internal reporting tool, a formal assessment of the LHN performance will be completed quarterly. The quarterly process will include DHW undertaking an initial assessment to be discussed with the LHN to incorporate agreed contextual and qualitative aspects of sustainable performance. This discussion will inform the final quarterly performance assessment issued to the LHN. The LHN performance levels are not assigned solely on KPI data, with a range of other factors also considered by DHW.

Any performance issues which result in system-wide impacts will be actively managed as part of LHN performance reviews.

A number of KPIs will be 'monitored' in year and may transition to Tier 1 or Tier 2 KPIs depending on the system's performance. Monitor KPIs do not contribute to the evaluation of the LHN's overall Performance Level but will inform opportunities for improvement.

LCLHN has been commissioned at 91% National Efficient Price (NEP) (Emergency Departments funded at 92%), incorporating 2023-24 national weights and classifications, as determined by the Independent Health and Aged Care Pricing Authority (IHACPA). It is expected that LHNs will perform within funded levels. Where a performance concern is identified, the LHN will be required to develop strategies to address, with improvement to be monitored in performance meetings.

More detailed information regarding the 2023-24 KPI architecture, including KPI descriptions, levels (Tier 1, Tier 2, and monitor), calculation methodology, targets and reporting frequency is available in the 2023-24 KPI Master Definition Document.

Subdomain	Tier 1	Tier 2	
Timely Access to Care (Access and Flow)			
Emergency Department	ED LOS <= 4hrs – non admitted	ED seen within clinically recommended time	
Inpatient (Response and flow)	ED LOS <= 4hrs – Admitted	%/no. patients => 21 LOS (general beds)	
Elective Surgery	Elective Surgery – Percentage of Elective wait list patients overdue for procedure		
	Productivity and Efficie	псу	
Finance	End of year net variance to budget (\$m)	National Efficient Price %	
Commissioned Activity	Overall NWAUs activity to cap		
Efficiency	LOS variance to IHPA benchmark		
Quality of Health Information	Complexity index	Critical Errors – Admitted Patient Care	
	Safe and Effective Ca	re	
	Healthcare Associated SAB Infection Rate	Healthcare Associated MRSA Infection Rate	
Safe Care	Hospital Acquired Complication Rate		
	Mental Health – Seclusion per 1,000 bed days	Mental Health - Restraint Events per 1,000 bed days	
Consumers Experience of Care	Consumer Experience: Involved in Decision Making	Consumer Experience: Being Heard - Listened to (Quarterly)	
	Maternity - HAC rate 3rd & 4th Degree Perineal tears		
	Mental Health - Post Discharge Community Follow Up Rate		
Appropriateness	Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander inpatient discharge against advice	Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander ED DNW or left at own risk	
of Care	% of care recipients who were physically restrained	% of care recipients who experienced significant unplanned weight loss (5% or more)	
	% of care recipients who experienced one or more falls resulting in major injury	% of care recipients who received antipsychotic medications	
	% Care recipients who receive a pressure injury		
Effectiveness of Care	Avoidable Hospital Readmissions	Emergency Department Unplanned Reattendances within 48 Hours	
People and Culture			
Workforce	Percentage of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander workforce	Staff Turnover	
	Employees with Excess Annual Leave Balance	Overtime hrs as proportion of total productive hrs.	
	Completion of Performance Reviews in Line with the Commissioner's Determination	Sick/carers leave hrs as proportion of total productive hrs.	
		New Workplace Injury Claims	

## **Data and Reporting Requirements**

The LHN will provide data to the DHW on the provision and performance of health services (including community and aged care data), in a timely manner and as required by the DHW Chief Executive in alignment with the National Health Care Reform Agreement. All data provisions are outlined in the Enterprise Data and Information (EDI) Data Requirements, 2023-24 Bulletin including routine monthly data submissions and ad hoc requests. It is essential that data is submitted by the date provided within the Bulletin.

Where new data indicators are developed and agreed by the Commonwealth and the State, LHNs and DHW will work to deliver appropriate data to meet these needs.

The LHN must ensure that reported activity meets national definitions as detailed in the Principles, Scope and Methodology within the IHACPA Pricing Framework, unless there is a state determined variation. DHW is committed to supporting the LHN with their data and reporting requirements.

The LHN is required to maintain up-to-date information for the public on its website regarding its relevant facilities and services including population health, inpatient services and other non-inpatient services and community health. DHW is committed to working in year with LHNs to establish routine public reporting across all domains.

## **Integrated Safety and Quality Performance Account**

Annually the LHN will complete a Safety and Quality Account (the Account) report to demonstrate its achievement and ongoing commitment to assurance and improving and integrating safety and quality activity. The 2023-24 Account, due 29 September 2024, will provide information about clinical governance and the safety and quality performance of the LHN, highlighting improvement initiatives and outcomes for the financial year.

#### **Workplace Wellbeing Report**

LHNs/SAAS are required to prepare an annual Wellbeing report to provide qualitative data to demonstrate workplace wellbeing action against priority areas. The report will be due on 1 December 2023. DHW will commit to providing a summary of the wellbeing reports from LHNs/SAAS to enable visibility across the system and provide the opportunity to collaborate on future initiatives.

## PART F: FUNDING AND COMMISSIONED ACTIVITY

## **Purpose**

#### Part F sets out:

- > the sources of funding that the Agreement is based on and the manner in which these funds will be provided to the LHN
- > the activity commissioned by the DHW from the LHN
- > the funding provided for delivery of the commissioned activity
- > specific funding commitments.

Procedures currently delivered and funded through the Nationally Funded Centres program will not be eligible for state funding.

Funding Sources				
<b>Funding Source</b>	Revenue (\$)	Expenditure (\$)	Net Result (\$)	
DHW Recurrent Transfer	159,964,000	0		
ABF Operating, Statewide, Mental Health & Intermediate Care	47,891,000	207,856,000		
Other Operating	0	0		
Inter Regional/Inter Portfolio	139,000	139,000		
Special Purpose Funds & Other Own Source Revenue	7,345,000	415,000		
Capital	11,835,000	0		
Non-Cash Items	0	6,244,000		
Total LC Allocation	227,175,000	214,654,000	12,521,000	

## **Activity and Funding Allocation**

The DHW has adopted the National ABF model to price and fund activity delivered by the LHNs.

Commissioned activity targets (NWAUs) for Acute, Emergency, Mental Health Admitted, Sub-Acute and Non-Admitted Services have been derived using the Independent Health and Aged Care Pricing Authority (IHACPA) price weights with adjustments made based on the Hospital/LHN casemix profile. The DHW applies the National Efficient Price as set by IHACPA to this commissioned activity to determine the funding allocation. Regional LHN funded price may be adjusted to reflect historical price performance. Small rural hospital services receive block funding reflective of services.

DHW determines the funding allocation on the basis of the number of patients, irrespective of residence, or funding source e.g. private patient, Department of Veteran Affairs patient and the types of treatments at a set price weight. This ensures that LHNs have the appropriate expenditure authority, with an associated private revenue target for each LHN to meet.

LHN actual performance against commissioned activity targets will be monitored monthly and through the Performance Review Meeting process. The LHN has a responsibility to actively monitor variances from commissioned activity levels, to notify the DHW of any potential variance and to take appropriate action to avoid variance exceeding agreed tolerances. All COVID related expenditure is assumed to be incorporated within funding frameworks. COVID related expenditure and activity will no longer be reported separately in 2023-24.

If the LHN wishes to move activity between commissioned activity types and levels or make any deliberate changes to the consistent recording of activity that would result in activity moving between activity types and levels, this must be negotiated with DHW.

Activity and Funding Allocation				
	2023-24 Cap			
Funding Type	Separations/	NWAUs	Commissioned	
	Service Events			
	Activity Al	locations		
Acute (admitted)	17,220	13,775	\$83,090,646	
Admitted Mental Health	231	490	\$2,958,623	
Emergency Department	30,892	4,079	\$24,602,006	
Outpatients	70,548	4,211	\$25,400,236	
Sub-Acute	165	1,010	\$6,093,274	
Total Activity Allocation	119,055	23,565	\$142,144,785	
	Grant F	unded		
Acute (admitted)	1,250	855	\$5,156,437	
Admitted Mental Health	100	135	\$816,103	
Emergency Department	4,072	415	\$2,500,431	
Outpatients	2,451	162	\$978,714	
Sub-Acute	30	395	\$2,384,402	
<b>Total Activity Allocation</b>	7,903	1,962	\$11,836,087	
	Designated .	Allocations		
Aged Care			\$34,784,000	
Intermediate Care			\$13,379,133	
Mental Health			\$3,792,460	
Other (including Rural			\$1,889,006	
Access Grant)				
Rebalancing 2023-24			(\$12,288,355)	
Regional Office (Site Specifics)			\$7,951,135	
Site Specifics & Grants			\$4,367,557	
Designated Allocations			\$53,874,936	
Total Expenditure			\$207,855,808	

# Independent Health and Aged Care Pricing Authority (IHACPA) Model

SA Health is required to inform the Administrator of the National Health Funding Pool of the commissioned services of the LHN for the 2023-24 year, expressed in line with the determinations of the IHACPA.

To meet the requirements of the Administrator, the Agreement includes a translation of the SA Health ABF model into the same scope as the IHACPA Determination and Funding Model.

National Health Reform Funding Table				
Funding Type	2023-24 Cap NWAU	ABF Price (\$)	Commissioned (Price/ NWAU)	Commonwealth Funding (37.71%)
		ABF Allocation		
Acute (Inpatients)	8,837	\$6,032	\$53,302,152	\$20,100,242
Mental Health (admitted)	632	\$6,032	\$3,813,638	\$1,438,123
Sub-Acute	419	\$6,032	\$2,525,364	\$952,315
Emergency Department	2,876	\$6,032	\$17,350,497	\$6,542,873
Outpatients	1,828	\$6,032	\$11,028,125	\$4,158,706
Total ABF Allocations	14,592		\$88,019,776	\$33,192,258
7 111 2 0 0 11 0 11 0		Block Allocation		
Teaching, Training and Research			\$12,000	\$4,525
Small and Rural Hospitals			\$41,743,514	\$15,741,479
Non-Admitted Mental Health			<b>\$</b> 0	<b>\$</b> 0
Non-Admitted CAMHS				\$0
Non-Admitted Home Ventilation				\$0
Other Non- Admitted Services (Home Oxygen)			\$350,095	\$132,021
Other Public Hospital Programs				\$0
Highly Specialised Therapies				\$0
Total Block Allocation			\$42,105,608	\$15,878,025
Grand Total Funding Allocation			\$130,125,385	\$49,070,283

# **Specific Commissioning Commitments**

The services, programs and projects set out in the table below have been specifically commissioned by the DHW from the LHN. These services will be the focus of detailed monitoring by the DHW. If the LHN forecasts an inability to achieve these commitments, the LHN will promptly notify the DHW.

Specific Commissioning Commitments			
Service / Program	Allocation		
	Funds are allocated to the LHNs in proportion with their number of Transition Care places.		
Transition Care Program	Due to movement of bed numbers a six-month nominal budget has been provided and will be confirmed when final bed numbers are approved.		
	Total 6 months \$792,000		
	The final six months will be released in year following analysis on bed numbers and occupancy reporting.		
	LCLHN to receive a full year payment of \$498,425 for a minimum of 672 assessments in the year*		
	Payment per assessment \$716, with the additional funding provided to support administration and triage.		
Aged Care Assessment Program	LHNs are to meet KPIs and performance expectations as detailed by the Office of Ageing Well		
	*DHW reserve the right to request the return of funds should performance expectations/no. of assessments not be met		
Multi Burnoco Sorvicos	Jointly funded by the Commonwealth and the State to establish and maintain health and aged care services.		
Multi-Purpose Services	Commonwealth contribution:		
	68 places - \$4,561,970		
Palliative Care	End of life care packages will be distributed to each regional LHN and supported by the Rural Support Service. Election Commitment Palliative Care Nursing - \$78,000		
Lymphoedema Compression Garment Scheme	\$5,455 GST Ex Supplies & Services		
Election Commitment – Additional doctors	\$209,000		
NEP relativity for Emergency Department	All Casemix Emergency Departments to be funded at 92% NEP		
Intermediate Care	\$6,284,000 converted to Activity Based Funding (1,142 NWAUs)		

# Signature

This is a Service Agreement (the Agreement) between the Chief Executive of the Department for Health and Wellbeing (Chief Executive) and the Limestone Coast Local Health Network Incorporated (the Parties) which sets out the Parties' mutual understanding of their respective statutory and other legal functions and obligations through a statement of expectations and performance deliverables for the period of 01 July 2023 - 30 June 2024.

Through execution of the Agreement, the Local Health Network agrees to meet the service obligations and performance requirements as detailed in Part A-Part F of the Agreement. The Chief Executive agrees to provide the funding and other support as outlined in the Agreement.

Grant King	
Chair	
On behalf of	
Limestone Coast Local Health Network Inc. Go	overning Board
Signed:	Date: 16 November 2023
Angela Miller	
A/Chief Executive Officer	
Limestone Coast Local Health Network Inc.	
Signed:	Date: 16 November 2023
Dr Robyn Lawrence	
Chief Executive	
Department for Health and Wellbeing	
Signed: Also	Date: 28,11,23

# For more information

Limestone Coast Local Health Network 2023-24 Service Agreement Commissioning and Performance 11 Hindmarsh Square ADELAIDE SA 5000

health.commissioning@sa.gov.au

www.sahealth.sa.gov.au





